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ORDER 
 
By the Commission: 
 
 Under Section 3 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act ("Act") [220 ILCS 20/3], 
the Illinois Commerce Commission ("Commission") is required to 
 

adopt rules establishing minimum safety standards for the transportation 
of gas and for pipeline facilities. Such rules shall be at least as inclusive, 
as stringent, and compatible with, the minimum safety standards adopted 
by the Secretary of Transportation under the Federal Act. 

 
The Commission has incorporated by reference applicable federal rules at 83 Ill. Adm. 
Code 590, "Minimum Safety Standards for Transportation of Gas and for Gas Pipeline 
Facilities" ("Part 590"). Section 590.10(a) incorporates "49 CFR 191.1, 191.3, 191.5, 
191.7, 191.9, 191.11, 191.13, 191.15, 191.17, 191.23, 191.25, 192, 193 and 199 as of 
January 1, 2011, as its minimum safety standards for the transportation of gas and for 
gas pipeline facilities." 
 
 In a Staff Report dated September 17, 2012, the Staff of the Commission's 
Pipeline Safety Program ("Staff") detailed the alleged violations of the City of Creal 
Springs Gas Utility (“Creal Springs Utility” or "Utility") for failure to comply with specified 
minimum federal safety standards for transportation of natural gas incorporated by Part 
590. Creal Springs Utility is a person as defined by Section 2.01 of the Act engaged in 
the transportation of gas and owning or operating pipeline facilities. and, as such, is 
subject to the Act (See 220 ILCS 20/2.01, 2.03, and 2.04). Section 6(a)(1) of the Act 
requires that every such person shall "at all times after the date any applicable safety 
standard established under this Act takes effect comply with the requirements of such 
standard." [220 ILCS 20/6(a)(1)] 
 
 As recounted in the Staff Report, the Commission’s Pipeline Safety Staff (“Staff”) 
conducted compliance record audits of the Creal Spring's Utility's maintenance records 



on May 28, 2009, January 20, 2010, and April 26, 2012. Staff’s review identified a 
number of alleged violations of the Sections of the Code of Federal Regulations 
incorporated by Part 590. In connection with these compliance record audits, Staff’s 
review identified probable violations of 49 CFR §192.615(c), 49 CFR §192.625(f), 49 
CFR §192.465(d), and 49 CFR §192.721(b). 
 
May 28, 2009 Record Audit 
 
 As recounted in the Staff Report, Staff conducted a compliance record audit of 
the Creal Springs natural gas distribution system on May 28, 2009 (“May 2009 audit”). 
This audit included records relating to emergency plans, odorization of gas, external 
corrosion control monitoring, and patrolling distribution systems. Staff discovered the 
following probable violations. 
 

1. 49 CFR §192.615(c) requires each operator to establish and maintain liai-
son with appropriate fire, police, and other public officials to share 
information regarding resources or entities that may respond to a natural 
gas emergency, acquaint those officials with the operator’s ability to re-
spond to an emergency, identify the types of gas pipeline emergencies 
that require notification, and plan for mutual assistance. 

 
During the May 2009 audit, Staff requested documentation required to 
verify Creal Springs’ compliance with 49 CFR §192.615(c). Creal Springs 
could not provide Staff with such documentation. 
 
Upon conclusion of the May 2009 audit, Staff reviewed a PSP Field Trip 
Report regarding Creal Springs dated November 13, 2006. That report in-
dicated that Creal Springs had been notified, at that time, of a similar 
failure to meet with the appropriate public officials and local emergency 
response personnel. 
 

2. 49 CFR §192.625(f) requires each operator to conduct periodic sampling 
of combustible gases using an instrument capable of determining the per-
centage of gas in the air at which the odor becomes readily detectable.  
Maintaining adequate levels of odorant concentration in the natural gas is 
essential to allow leak detection. 

 
 Staff requested documentation required to verify Creal Springs’ compli-

ance with 49 CFR §192.625(f). Creal Springs could not provide Staff with 
such documentation. 

 
 Upon the conclusion of the May 2009 audit, Staff reviewed a PSP Field 

Trip Report regarding Creal Springs dated September 11, 2003. That re-
port indicated that a Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) letter was sent 
to Creal Springs, at that time, for failure to conduct odorant level testing in 
2002.  Staff also reviewed a June 4, 2008, PSP report which indicated 



that Creal Springs failed to conduct the odorant testing and recommended 
that testing be conducted and documented. 

 
3. 49 CFR §192.465(d) requires that each operator shall take prompt reme-

dial action to correct any deficiencies indicated by corrosion control 
monitoring. Deficiencies that may allow corrosion of metallic pipe must be 
addressed promptly to maintain the integrity of the pipeline facility. Docu-
mentation provided by Creal Springs for the May 2009 audit established 
that nine separate locations in the Creal Springs distribution system con-
tained readings indicating a deficient level of corrosion control. The 
readings recorded, known as pipe-to-soil potentials, were well below the 
required negative 0.85 volts direct current. These nine locations were orig-
inally determined to be deficient in 2006 and continued to remain deficient 
in 2008. Remedial measures must be conducted prior to the next regular 
inspection cycle which, in this instance, would have been 15 months from 
the date the deficient conditions were first discovered. Creal Springs failed 
to take remedial actions in a timely manner, thus causing continued metal 
loss and the potential for pipe wall failure and leakage to occur. 
 

 Upon the conclusion of the May 2009 audit, Staff reviewed an October 16, 
2008, PSP Field Trip Report, which indicated that Creal Springs had not 
taken remedial corrosion control action to address deficient locations and, 
in addition, a NOPV letter had been issued to Creal Springs, dated Octo-
ber 21, 2003, for failure to properly document external corrosion control 
monitoring. Staff also reviewed Creal Springs’ November 13, 2006, PSP 
inspection report and determined that the pipeline sections discovered to 
be deficient in 2006 were also determined to be deficient in 2003. 

 
4. 49 CFR §192.721(b) outlines operator requirements to periodically patrol 

mains in places or on structures where anticipated physical movement or 
external loading could cause failure or leakage. Such locations include 
mains attached to buildings, mains on bridges, or mains crossing under 
highways or railroads.  Inspection of the specified locations must be con-
ducted to ensure the integrity of the pipeline facility. Staff requested 
documentation necessary to verify Creal Springs’ compliance with 49 CFR 
§192.721(b) relating to distribution system patrolling. Creal Springs could 
not provide Staff with such documentation. 

 
The Staff Report summarizes the compliance action taken by the Staff and the 
response of Creal Springs to the NOPV letter sent following the May 2009 Audit. 
 
January 20, 2010 Record Audit 
 
 The Staff Report recounts that, on January 20, 2010, Staff conducted a compli-
ance record audit of the Creal Springs natural gas distribution system as well as a 
follow-up audit regarding the May 28, 2009 audit. As a result of this follow-up audit, it 



was determined that certain compliance issues, identified in the June 9, 2009 NOPV 
letter regarding 49 CFR §§192.615(c), 192.465(d), and 192.721, had been addressed 
and no further compliance action was required. It was also determined that the notice of 
probable violation of 49 CFR §192.625(f) had not been addressed. 
 
April 24-26, 2012 Record Audit 
 
 The Staff Report explains that the Staff conducted a compliance record audit of 
the Creal Springs natural gas distribution system on April 24-26, 2012 (“April 2012 
audit”). The compliance record audit included records relating to emergency plans, 
odorization of gas, external corrosion control monitoring, and patrolling distribution 
systems. Staff discovered the following probable violations. 
 

1. Staff requested documentation to verify Creal Springs’ compliance with 49 
CFR §192.615(c) operator requirements to establish and maintain liaison 
with appropriate fire, police, and other public officials. Creal Springs could 
not provide Staff with such documentation. 

 
2. Staff requested documentation to verify compliance with 49 CFR 

§192.625(f) regarding periodic sampling of odorant in the combustible gas 
stream. Creal Springs could not provide such documentation.  

 
3. A review of Creal Springs’ corrosion control monitoring documentation re-

vealed that that a cathodic testing station located at 1019 Creal Springs 
Road had a deficient reading (below -0.85 volts direct current) beginning 
in 2009. 49 CFR §192.465(d) requires that each operator shall take 
prompt remedial action to correct any deficiencies indicated by the moni-
toring.  Staff determined that Creal Springs failed to take remedial action 
with respect to this location, in a timely manner, thus causing continued 
metal loss with the potential for a leak to occur. 

 
4. Staff requested documentation to verify Creal Springs’ compliance with 49 

CFR §192.721(b) relating to distribution system patrolling, and operator 
requirements to periodically patrol mains in places or on structures where 
anticipated physical movement or external loading could cause failure or 
leakage. Creal Springs failed to provide documentation of any patrolling 
activity. 

 
The Staff Report indicates that, as a result of the April 2012 audit, Staff sent out an 
NOPV letter. Creal Springs has failed to respond to the two requests for response. 
 
 Based on the alleged violations of the safety rules incorporated under the 
authority of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act, Staff has recommended that the 
Commission initiate a proceeding to determine whether City of Creal Springs Gas Utility 
has failed to comply with 49 CFR §§192.615(c), 192.625(f), 192.465(d), and 192.721(b) 



and whether civil penalties should be assessed as allowed by Section 7 of the Illinois 
Gas Pipeline Safety Act [220 ILCS 20/7]. 
 
 The Staff Report presents a sufficient basis to initiate a proceeding to determine 
whether the Utility has violated the federal rules incorporated by reference in 83 Ill. 
Adm. Code 590. Section 7(a) of the Act states: 
 

Any person violating paragraph (a) of Section 6 of this Act or any rule or 
order issued under this Act is subject to a civil penalty not to exceed the 
maximum penalties established by Section 60122(a)(1) of Title 49 of the 
United States Code for each day the violation persists.  

  
The maximum penalty established by 49 USC 60122(a)(1) is $100,000 for each 
violation. A separate violation occurs for each day the violation continues. The maxi-
mum civil penalty under this Section for a related series of violations is $1,000,000. 
 

The Commission, being fully advised in the premises, is of the opinion and finds 
that:  
 

(1) the Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter herein and the 
parties hereto; 

 
(2) Creal Springs, Illinois is a municipality subject to the Illinois Gas Pipeline 

Safety Act in that it is a person who engages in the transportation of gas 
or who owns or operates pipeline facilities;  

 
(3) Creal Springs, Illinois should be made a respondent to this proceeding;  
 
(4) the Commission has incorporated as its rules specified federal rules relat-

ing to gas pipeline safety through its adoption of 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590;  
 
(5) the Staff Report from the Pipeline Safety Program provides a basis for the 

initiation of a proceeding to determine whether the Utility has failed to 
comply with the requirements of the Code of Federal Regulations that the 
Commission has incorporated by reference by its adoption of 83 Ill. Adm. 
Code 590; 

 
(6) the Staff Report dated September 17, 2012 should be made a part of the 

record of this proceeding; 
 

 IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Illinois Commerce Commission that a 
proceeding be initiated to determine whether Creal Springs, Illinois, as operator of the 
Creal Springs Gas Utility, has failed to comply with the following requirements of the 
Code of Federal Regulations adopted by the Illinois Commerce Commission as 
required by Section 3 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act and rules of the Commis-
sion adopted under the Act: 



 
1) 49 CFR §192.615(c) that requires each operator to establish and maintain 

liaison with appropriate fire, police, and other public officials to share in-
formation regarding resources or entities that may respond to a natural 
gas emergency, acquaint those officials with the operator’s ability to re-
spond to an emergency, identify the types of gas pipeline emergencies 
that require notification, and plan for mutual assistance. 

 
2) 49 CFR §192.625(f) that requires the operator to assure proper concen-

tration of odorant in the natural gas system through periodic sampling of 
the combustible gases. Instrumentation is to be used to verify that the 
odorant is readily detectable to a person with a normal sense of smell. 

 
3) 49 CFR §192.465(d) that requires that each operator shall take prompt 

remedial action to correct any deficiencies indicated by corrosion control 
monitoring. Deficiencies that may allow corrosion of metallic pipe must be 
addressed promptly to maintain the integrity of the pipeline facility. 

 
4) 49 CFR §192.721(b) that outlines operator requirements to periodically 

patrol mains in places or on structures where anticipated physical move-
ment or external loading could cause failure or leakage. Such locations 
include mains attached to buildings, mains on bridges, or mains crossing 
under highways or railroads. 

 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Creal Springs, Illinois, as operator of the Creal 
Springs Gas Utility is made respondent to this proceeding.  
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Staff Report dated September 17, 2012 is 
made a part of the record of this proceeding. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that respondent appear at the offices of the 
Commission at the time and date specified by the Administrative Law Judge assigned 
to this proceeding. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that failure of the respondent to appear as ordered 
may result in findings that Creal Springs, Illinois, as operator of the Creal Springs Gas 
Utility has failed to comply with the enumerated requirements of the Code of Federal 
Regulations as incorporated by reference by the Illinois Commerce Commission and 
may result in the imposition of civil penalties pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Gas 
Pipeline Safety Act. 
 



 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order is not final; it is not subject to the 
Administrative Review Law. 
 
 By Order of the Commission this 28th day of November, 2012. 
 
 
 
 

(SIGNED) DOUGLAS P. SCOTT 
 

Chairman 
 


